IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-01997

EMMA WOMACK, ET AL.

APPELLEE

On Appeal From The Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi Cause Number351-98-816CIV Honorable Winston Kidd

Brief of Appellant City of Jackson

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PIETER TEEUWISSEN
CITY ATTORNEY
CLAIRE BARKER HAWKINS
DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 455 East Capitol Street Post Office Box 2779 Jackson, Mississippi 39207 Telephone: 601-960-1799

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-TS-01997

EMMA WOMACK, ET AL.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issue that this Court should resolve on this appeal is:

• Whether the lower court erred in failing to limit damages to those from the fall on the curb.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On August 7, 1998, Mrs. Stewart sued the City, Doris Spiller (a City employee), and University of Mississippi Medical Center for injuries resulting from a parking lot fall that occurred while Mrs. Stewart was exiting a City of Jackson van in the parking lot of an adult day care center. City of Jackson v. Stewart ex rel. Womack, 908 So.2d, 703, 706-07 (Miss. 2005). On November 23, 1998, a conservatorship was established for Mrs. Stewart, and her daughter, Emma Womack, was appointed conservator of the person and estate of Mrs. Stewart. Id. On December 18, 1998, Womack, in her capacity as Mrs. Stewart's conservator was substituted as the plaintiff. Id. The Plaintiff filed suit and lengthy litigation has ensued. This is the third time this Court has visited this matter on appeal.

1. Stewart I

During the first phase of litigation in this matter, the City, the Hospital and Spiller filed motions for summary judgment, and on September 1, 1999, the trial court denied the Hospital's motion and granted summary judgment to the City and Spiller. *Id.* Plaintiff filed an interlocutory appeal of the summary judgment granted to the City and Spiller. *Id.* This Court reversed the summary judgment, holding that the

City was obligated under its contract with the Central Mississippi Planning and Development District Area Agency (CMPDD) to provide safe delivery of patrons to the day care center, and that Mrs. Stewart was a third-party beneficiary of that contractual obligation. Stewart ex rel. Womack v. City of Jackson, 804 So.2d 1041 (Miss. 2002) (hereinafter "Stewart I").

2. Stewart II

On September 25, 2002 there was a three day bench trial in this matter. City of Jackson v. Stewart ex rel. Womack, 908 So.2d at 707 (hereinafter referred to as "Stewart II"). Mrs. Stewart died on November 4, 2002, and her estate was substituted as plaintiff on January 30, 2003. Id. On April 1, 2003 the trial court entered its order, finding that the City and the Hospital were jointly liable for the tort claim and found that Stewart was a third party beneficiary of the contract between the City and CMPDD. Id. The trial court awarded Mrs. Stewart's Estate \$500,000 on the tort claim and \$500,000 on the breach of contract claim. Id. at 708. The trial court then added these two sums together to reach a final verdict for Mrs. Stewart in the amount of \$1,000,000. From this judgment, the City and the Hospital appealed.

This Court affirmed in part, reversed and rendered in part, and reversed and remanded in part the trial court's ruling. *Id.* Specifically, this Court found, *inter alia*, that Stewart's estate was entitled to one maximum

recovery of \$250,000 against the City, and that the estate failed to show that Stewart's stroke was a foreseeable consequence of the fall in the parking lot. This Court remanded this matter with directions to the trial court that the "Estate may not recover damages related to the stroke, whether or not it was caused by the fall on August 11, 1997." *Id.* at 715.

3. Stewart III

On September 9, 2007, a bench trial was held solely on the issue of damages. The only new testimony in this trial was given by Dr. Steven Hayne, who was designated as an expert by the Plaintiff. This Court instructed the lower court to find on the issue of damages, and explicitly stated that the Estate may not recover from damages related to the stroke. However, on May 14, 2008, contrary to this Court's instructions, the lower court entered its Opinion and Order finding that Mrs. Stewart's striking her head injured her brain and led to the continuous decline of her cognitive and physical abilities until her death on November 4, 2002. R. at 41. The lower court awarded damages to the Plaintiff in the amount of \$250,000 for the City's breach of care of its duty of care owed to Plaintiff. On June 6, 2008, the City timely filed its Notice of Appeal.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The University of Mississippi Medical Center operated a day care center, and the City provided a regular driver and van to pick up Mrs. Stewart, who regularly attended. *Stewart II*, 908 So.2d 703, 706. On August 11, 1997, Doris Spiller, an employee of the City, was substituting for the regular van driver. *Id.* She picked Mrs. Stewart up at her home and proceeded to the day care center where she helped Mrs. Stewart off the van. *Id.* The day care center is located in a business park environment where several businesses share a parking lot which is owned and operated by the owner of the business park. *Id.*

After assisting Mrs. Stewart off the van and "stabilizing" her, Spiller turned to assist another passenger from the van. Mrs. Stewart took a few steps toward the center and began to fall. *Id.* When Spiller saw Mrs. Stewart begin to fall, she reached out for Mrs. Stewart and attempted unsuccessfully to break the fall. *Id.* Mrs. Stewart hit her head on the pavement. *Id.*

Mrs. Stewart was taken to the emergency room where she had no swelling, her blood pressure was normal, and she seemed fine. *Id.*; See also T.T. at 206.¹ Mrs. Stewart was released from the hospital and returned to the adult day care center two days later. *Id.*; See also T.T. at 207. While

¹ This reference refers to the Trial Transcript from the original trial held on September 25, 2002.

in the bathroom at the day care center the next day, Mrs. Stewart feel again, but her fall was not considered serious. *Id.*; See also T.T. at 207.

Later that night, while at home, Mrs. Stewart complained of her head, and the next morning she regurgitated her breakfast and was disoriented. *Id.* Mrs. Stewart was taken to the emergency room where she was examined, given prescriptions for pain and muscle relaxers, and she was returned home. *Id.* Mrs. Stewart continued to have problems, and her daughter took her to see Dr. Ramsey a few days later. *Id.* Dr. Ramsay referred her to Dr. Gipson, who admitted Mrs. Stewart to the hospital for further tests. *Id.* Womack testified at trial that Dr. Gipson told her that Mrs. Stewart had suffered another massive stroke, "far worse than the one she had in the 70's." *Id.*

In *Stewart II*, this Court found that the Plaintiff may not recover for damages related to the stroke that occurred four days after the fall. *Stewart II*, 908 So.2d at 715. However, at the second trial on damages in this matter, the lower court awarded the Plaintiff \$250,000 in damages. This is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence produced during the first and second trials. As such, the City appeals this matter due to the fact that the lower court erred in failing to limit damages to those that arose from the fall only.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in failing to limit the damages in this matter to those damages that arose from the fall on the curb. The Plaintiff fell and hit her head on August 11, 1997. S.T.T. at 23.2 At the time of the fall, Mrs. Stewart was 72 years of age. She previously suffered a massive stroke in 1978 and suffered from paralysis on one side of her body, limited speech, limited mobility, and hypertension and was limited from a neurologic standpoint. T.T. at 203-204.

During the first trial in this matter, Dr. Thiel, a board certified neurologist, testified that the only injury that resulted from the August 11, 1997 fall on the curb was a scalp abrasion. She further testified that there is no indication that Mrs. Stewart suffered from a traumatic brain injury. The Plaintiff's original theory of liability was that the fall on the curb resulted in Mrs. Stewart suffering from a second stroke. The lower court awarded \$1,000,000 to the Plaintiff in the first trial, and the City appealed. This Court affirmed in part, reversed and rendered in part, and reversed and remanded the lower court's ruling, finding that Stewart's estate was entitled to a maximum recover of \$250,000 against the City, and that the purported stroke was not a foreseeable consequence of the fall in the parking lot.

² This reference refers to the Supplemental Trial Transcript from the bench trial on September 9, 2007, which was supplemented into the record on September 28, 2009.

The second trial in this matter addressed the sole issue of damages against the City. Realizing that the stroke theory was foreclosed in the first trial, the Plaintiff attempted to rename the same damages as a traumatic brain injury for the second trial. The only testimony offered by the Plaintiff in the second trial was Dr. Steven Hayne, who opined that a traumatic brain injury was the cause of Mrs. Stewart to enter her "final common pathway" of declining health and eventual death.

Dr. Hayne is a forensic pathologist who does not diagnose traumatic brain injury in a living person. He acknowledged that he had not been involved in diagnosing a traumatic brain injury in "quite a while," and that a neurosurgeon would be the proper specialist to determine a traumatic brain injury in a living person. Dr. Hayne gave no consideration to the previous falls that Mrs. Stewart suffered, to the massive stroke she suffered in 1978 or to the fact that Mrs. Stewart previously suffered from many of the alleged symptoms that were part of the purported "final common pathway" when he made his determination. Importantly, Dr. Hayne acknowledged that the MRI taken after Mrs. Stewart's fall did indicate a traumatic brain injury. Dr. Hayne also acknowledged Mrs. Stewart's prior medical problems and symptoms, yet, he somehow still concluded that the August 11, 1997 fall caused Mrs. Stewart to enter the "final common" pathway" of her declining health. This determination is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

At the end of the second trial, the lower court awarded the Plaintiff \$250,000 and found that the August 11, 1997 fall led to the decline of Mrs. Stewart's cognitive and physical abilities. However, this finding is contrary to the overwhelming evidence produced at both trials and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence that Mrs. Stewart did not suffer a traumatic brain injury. Rather, she suffered a scalp abrasion that was not causally related or proximately caused by the fall in the parking lot. As such, the City respectfully requests this Court to reverse the lower Court's ruling and render damages for those injuries that resulted from the fall.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This action was brought under the Mississippi Torts Claims Act, which permits actions against a municipality, but requires a bench trial with the circuit judge sitting as finder of fact. In *Ezell v. Williams*, 724 So.2d 396 (Miss.1998), this Court enunciated that the standard of review in such cases requires that when a trial judge sits without a jury, this Court will not disturb his factual determinations where there is substantial evidence in the record to support those findings.

Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has recently reiterated the standard of review employed when examining a fact-finder's award of damages for error as follows: In *Lewis v. Hiatt*, 683 So.2d 937, 941 (Miss. 1996) this Court reasoned that "it is primarily the province of the jury [and the judge in a bench trial] to determine the amount of damages to be awarded and the award will normally not be set aside unless so unreasonable in amount <u>as to strike</u> mankind at first blush as being beyond all measure, unreasonable in amount and outrageous." Id. (quoting Harvey v. Wall, 649 So.2d 184, 187 (Miss. 1995)).

Thompson v. Lee County School District, 925 So.2d 57, 72 (Miss. 2006) (emphasis added). Further, a trial court's decision as to damages will not be disturbed so long as the ruling is supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. De Priest v. Barber, 798 So.2d 456, 459 (Miss. 2001).

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the lower court erred in failing to limit damages to those that arose from the fall on the curb.

Simply put, the lower court failed to apply the directions of this Court by failing to limit the damages in this matter to those that arose from the fall on the curb. In *Stewart II*, this Court remanded "this case for a new trial on damages consistent with this opinion, with instructions to the trial court to limit any damage award against the City to \$250,000, <u>and to exclude from its award any damages attributable to the stroke</u>." *Stewart II*, 908 So.2d at 716. (emphasis added). The lower court failed to follow the instruction to exclude damages attributable to the

stroke. Rather, the lower court summarily awarded the Plaintiff the maximum amount that this Court found the estate was entitled, which was \$250,000, without any consideration as to the testimony of Dr. Clara Thiel. The lower court relied on the unfounded testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne, and awarded an amount that is beyond all measure and unreasonable in amount.

The mandate of this Court in the prior litigation falls under the law of the case doctrine. This doctrine has been explained as follows:

The doctrine of the law of the case is similar to that of former adjudication, relates entirely to questions of law, and is confined in its operation to subsequent proceedings in the case. Whatever is once established as controlling legal rule of decision, between the same parties in the same case, continues to be the law of the case, so long as there is a similarity of the facts.

Simpson v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 564 So.2d 1374, 1376 (Miss. 1990) (emphasis added). The law of the case doctrine dictates that the damages in the case *sub judice* be limited to those that arose from the fall on the curb, not from the stroke that the Plaintiff purportedly suffered days later.

A. Testimony of Dr. Clara Thiel

During the first trial in this matter, Dr. Thiel testified the only injury that resulted from the August 11, 1997 fall on the curb was an abrasion on the scalp. T.T. at 206. Dr. Thiel is a board certified neurologist at River Oaks Hospital in Flowood, Mississippi. T.T. 198 – 99. Dr. Thiel testified

that she treats patients with head injuries, patients that have suffered strokes and elderly patients. T.T. at 200. It has been established though the pleadings and trial testimony that Mrs. Stewart fell and hit her head on August 11, 1997, that she suffered a significant stroke in 1978 and that she was 72 years of age when she fell on the curb. As such, Dr. Thiel was admitted in the first trial to testify as an expert in the field of general medicine in neurology. T.T. at 202.

Dr. Thiel also testified to Mrs. Stewart's condition <u>before</u> the fall on August 11, 1997. She stated that Mrs. Stewart had a significant stroke 20 years prior to the fall, that Mrs. Stewart had paralysis on one side of her body, limited speech, limited mobility, and hypertension and was limited from a neurologic standpoint. T.T. at 203 - 04. Dr. Thiel testified that the long-term prognosis for someone who had a significant stroke is limited and "for a large stroke to be alive 18 to 20 years later is probably exceeding what would be expected." T.T. at 204 - 05.

When asked about the injuries that Mrs. Stewart sustained after the fall on August 11, 1997, Dr. Thiel stated:

The only definite injury, if you will, is an abrasion on the scalp which is listed as a minor abrasion. There's not anything else to indicate that she had any other injuries. Her x-rays were normal. And so it's my impression that she had no serious injury because of her fall.

T.T. at 206 (emphasis added). Dr. Thiel also testified that she did not observe any evidence of concussion, fracture, bruising, swelling to the brain in the medical records. T.T. at 207. Moreover, the diagnosis from St. Dominic's hospital at the time of discharge on August 11, 1997 was "minor head injury." *Id*.

Dr. Thiel explained what occurred over the next week and how Mrs. Stewart's medical condition changed. She testified that the medical records demonstrated that Mrs. Stewart went back to day care the next day and did not have any problems during the next three days. T. T. at 207. On August 15, 1997. Mrs. Stewart fell in the bathroom of the daycare center, but had no injury and did not require medical attention. Id. Mrs. Stewart then went to the emergency room at St. Dominic's on August 16, 1997 and was treated for neck strain. T.T. at 208. On August 19, 1997, Mrs. Stewart went back to the emergency room because she was lethargic and could not walk. Id. The Plaintiff claimed in **Stewart II** that Mrs. Stewart suffered a second stroke at this time; however, this Court found that Dr. Thiel's testimony established that stroke is not a foreseeable consequence of the alleged negligence which led to Mrs. Stewart's fall, and the Estate may not recover damages related to the stroke, whether or not it was caused by the fall on August 11, 1997. Stewart II, 908 So.2d at 715. Therefore, Plaintiff can recover damages from the injuries sustained in the fall on the curb on August 11, 1997 until she was admitted to the hospital for the alleged stroke on August 19, 1997.

Based on the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the Plaintiff is not entitled to \$250,000 in damages. Dr. Thiel testified that the fall on August 11, 1997 did not have anything to do with her admission into the emergency room on August 19, 1997. T.T. at 211. Dr. Thiel based this opinion on the fact that Mrs. Stewart had no injury other than an abrasion immediately following the fall. Id. Mrs. Stewart returned to her normal activity for several days, which was "the strongest piece of evidence" according to Dr. Thiel. Id. More importantly, the MRI taken on August 19 did not show any change in the brain from a previous MRI taken in 1996. Dr. Thiel testified at trial that she did not find evidence of a new stroke, and these findings were based on her review of an MRI film that was taken in 1996 and comparing it to the MRI film taken on August 19, 1997. Mrs. Stewart did not suffer a traumatic brain injury or any other neurological defect. Therefore, based on expert testimony, the only damages suffered my Mrs. Stewart as on August 11, 1997 were a minor abrasion on the scalp.

B. Testimony of Dr. Steven Hayne

Realizing that the stroke theory was foreclosed by *Stewart II*, Plaintiff attempted to rename the same damages as a traumatic brain injury. However, the evidence from the first and second trials does not

indicate such an injury. During the second trial in this matter, in which this Court instructed the lower court to limit damages from those that arose from the fall on the curb, the only testimony that Plaintiff offered was from Dr. Steven Hayne. Dr. Hayne is a forensic pathologist and was formerly employed at the Medical Examiner's Office with the Department of Public Safety. S.T.T. at 7. He does not specialize in neurology. S.T.T. at 12. Dr. Hayne testified that the had not been involved in the diagnosis of a traumatic brain injury in a living individual in "quite a while," and that a neurosurgeon would be the proper specialist to determine a traumatic brain injury in a living person. S.T.T. at 14 and 16.

Dr. Hayne was designated as an expert witness by the Plaintiff and opined that the fall on August 11, 1997 eventually caused the "final common pathway," i.e., the decline of her health that eventually caused her death.⁴ S.T.T. 33. However, Dr. Hayne's findings are contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that Mrs. Stewart suffered a scalp abrasion and not a traumatic brain injury. Furthermore, Dr. Hayne's findings give no consideration to the previous falls that Mrs. Stewart suffered, to the massive stroke she had in 1978 or to the fact that Mrs.

³ Shortly after the **Stewart III** trial, Dr. Hayne's credibility was attached by various medical and governmental organizations and questioned by this Court in **Wilson v. State**, ---So.3d---, 2009 WL 3031076 (September 24, 2009). The City of Jackson respectfully requests that this Court take judicial notice of Dr. Hayne's discrepancies.

⁴ The Plaintiff is not pursuing a wrongful death claim against the City.

Stewart previously suffered from many of the alleged symptoms that were part of the "final common pathway."

Dr. Thiel testified in the first trial that the medical records indicated that Mrs. Stewart had a couple of falls prior to August 11, 1997. The medical records indicated that Mrs. Stewart fell and had a hip fracture that required hospitalization. T.T. at 214. Mrs. Stewart also had a previous fall where she hit her head. *Id.* However, Dr. Hayne found the fall on August 11, 1997 caused the decline in her health, notwithstanding the fact that she was 72 years old, suffered a major stroke in 1978 and had previous falls requiring hospitalization. In fact, Dr. Hayne did not take into consideration these previous falls in making his determination. S.T.T. at 37-38.

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