IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO: 2008-TS-01997

THE ESTATE OF OTHA STEWART, DECEASED, BY AND THROUGH ITS ADMINISTRATRIX, EMMA WOMACK

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

James A. Bobo
Mississippi Bar No
Akers & Bobo, PLLC
20 Eastgate Dr., Suite D (39042)
Post Office Box 280
Brandon, Mississippi 39043-0290
Telephone: (601) 825-4566

Mark C. Baker, Sr.
Mississippi Bar No.
Baker Law Firm, P.C.
Post Office Box 947
Brandon, Mississippi 39043-0947
Telephone: (601) 824-7455

Bernard C. Jones, Jr.
Mississippi Bar No

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

The Findings of Fact and Order made by the Trial Court in this case, were within his province and are supported by substantial evidence. Likewise it can not be said that the Findings of Fact and Order of the Trial Court are "manifestly wrong." *Yarbrough v. Camphor*, 645 So.2d 867, 869 (Miss.1994). Nor can it be said that the Trial Court "abused his discretion, was ... clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Holloman v. Holloman*, 691 So.2d 897, 898 (Miss.1996).¹⁰

IV. THE ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In bench trials, "a circuit judge's findings are subject to the same standard of review as those of a chancellor." *Univ. of Miss. Med. Ctr. v. Pounders*, 970 So.2d 141, 145 (Miss.2007) (citing *Kight v. Sheppard Bldg. Supply, Inc.*, 537 So.2d 1355, 1358 (Miss.1989)). "Our familiar standard of review requires that when a trial judge sits without a jury, this Court will not disturb his factual

¹⁰

The City incorrectly asserts that the "law of the case" doctrine some how operates to prevent the Trial Court from conducting a new trial as ordered by the Court. City Brief at 12. The citation submitted by the City clearly states that the doctrine "relates entirely to questions of law." Id. The issues in dispute here are factual. Moreover, as *Moeller v. American Guarantee* and Liability Ins. Co., 812 So.2d 953, 960 -961 (Miss. 2002) points out the rule ceases to apply if there have been a "material changes in evidence, pleadings or findings."

v. Williams, 724 So.2d 396, 397 (Miss.1998) (citing Yarbrough v. Camphor, 645 So.2d 867, 869 (Miss.1994); Omnibank of Mantee v. United S. Bank, 607 So.2d 76, 82 (Miss.1992)). Thus, the scope of review affords deferential treatment to the trial judge's findings. City of Greenville v. Jones, 925 So.2d 106, 109 (Miss.2006). "[T]his Court ought and generally will affirm a trial court sitting without a jury on a question of fact unless, based upon substantial evidence, the court must be manifestly wrong." Yarbrough, 645 So.2d at 869 (citations omitted). "The word 'manifest,' as defined in this context, means 'unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable.' "Singley v. Singley, 846 So.2d 1004, 1007 (Miss.2002) (quoting Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d 1117, 1122 (Miss.1995)).

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND ARE NOT MANIFESTLY WRONG

Both Dr. Thiel and Dr. Hayne agree that Mrs. Stewart did not suffer a stroke on or after August 11, 1997. However, Dr. Theil opined that Mrs. Stewart suffered no serious injury as the result of striking her head on the pavement. Dr. Thiel reached this opinion despite the fact that she did not know the severity of the fall. Original Trial Transcript at Page 226, lines 27 - 29. Moreover she never obtained information from Mrs. Stewart's family. Original Trial Transcript at Page 226 lines 27 - 29. And more importantly she assumed that Mrs. Stewart's level of functioning on the 11th and 12th of August, 1997, were the same as her level of functioning prior to Mrs. Stewart striking her head on the pavement. 12

This evidence is "more than a 'mere scintilla'" and should be characterized as "such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Delta CMI v. Speck*, 586 So.2d 768, 773 (Miss.1991).

According to Dr. Thiel, "[Mrs. Stewart] returned to her normal activity which I think is the strongest piece of evidence...." Original Transcript at Page 211, lines 8-13. This simply was not the

To her credit, Dr. Thiel admitted that her opinion would be unreliable if her assumptions

about Mrs. Stewart's functioning on the 11th and 12th were wrong:

- Q. And then if her level of alertness was not as you have assumed on the 11th and 12th, that would affect your opinion as to causation?
- A. Certainly, all of that would change opinions, but it would depend on what she looked like and what the time frame was, but it could change the opinion, yes.

Original Trial Transcript at Page 243 lines 7 - 13.

Unlike Dr. Hayne¹³, Dr. Theil did not have the benefit of hearing and considering the trial testimony of Mrs. Stewart's daughter Emma Womack. Original Trial Transcript at Page 198, Lines 7 - 13.¹⁴ Mrs. Womack testified as follows:

- Q. [T]ell the Judge about your mother. Tell him about a normal day, things that she liked to do, didn't like to do, things such as this [prior to August 11, 1997].
- A. Well, she's always been a hyper type of person. My mother loves to talk and laugh. And although she didn't have her speech, she had favorite words that she used like when she was excited. She liked to read the paper. As far as the t.v., she could turn the remote to anything she wanted to watch. She liked to help me cook in the kitchen so I would help her go in the kitchen and sit her down and we make cornbread and different things like that. She has sisters. She's from a family of eight brothers and sisters, and each summer we made it a priority, we went to St. Louis so she could stay a couple of weeks with her sister. So we don't get to do that anymore, though. But she's always been a pretty spunky type of person although she had her limits. She's always been a pretty spunky person.

13

strongest piece of evidence...." Original Transcript at Page 211, lines 8-13. This simply was not the case and completely undermines Thiel's opinion.

In contrast to Dr. Thiel, Dr. Hayne reviewed the trial testimony of Emma Womack. New Trial Transcript Page 22, Lines 12 - 24.

¹⁴ Dr. Thiel was called "out of turn" during the Plaintiff's case in chief. Id.

No. 10.

The opinion of Dr. Hayne and the Findings of the Trial Court are substantiated by the following first hand (and unrefuted) account of Mrs. Stewart's level of functioning on August 11, 1997, after she left the hospital:

- Q. And will you relate to the Judge from August 11th through when you got her home, would you tell the Judge how she was?
- A. Okay. When we left the hospital, August the 11th, that evening, I got my mother home and got her, you know, situated and everything, and she was she seemed kind of -- she sat there and watched TV for a while. And I asked her did she want some coffee. I fixed her some coffee, and she seemed kind of tired and I kept asking her, you know, Mama, what's wrong, are you all right. She was telling me she was hurting. She just said hurt, you know, she would say one and two words, she would say hurt. I said, you're hurting, your head hurting, your leg hurting, and she would say yes.

A. Oh, I'm so sorry. Okay. I fixed her some coffee and I asked her, you know, did she want to watch the Heat of the Night, it was corning on that evening. And I gave her the remote control and it was so strange she couldn't work it. And I asked her, I said, Mama, what's wrong. And I said, well, you know how to turn the remote, you know. Turn to what you want to watch. She couldn't figure out how to -- I knew something was going on, I just didn't know what was going on. She couldn't work the remote control. And for some reason, periodically, she would just fall asleep where she was sitting. You know, I'd wake her up and she would fall back to sleep.

New Trial Transcript Page 384, Lines 19 - 29, Page 385, Lines 1-4, 11- 23. Appellee's Record Excerpt Tab No. 11.

The opinion of Dr. Hayne and the Findings of the Trial Court are substantiated by the following first hand (and unrefuted) account of Mrs. Stewart's level of functioning on August 12, 1997 and the following day (August 13th):

- She was that same way. She was complaining about hurting, and I was steady A. giving her Tylenol, extra strength Tylenol, to kind of help with the pain, and she would fall asleep off and on. I went on and got her out the bed. And I couldn't put her in the tub because, you know, her leg was hurting her so bad and I couldn't put her in the way I normally put her in. So I put her on the chair and I bathed her on the chair and I drug the chair to the dinning room so she could eat. And after I got her In the dining room, before I could fix her plate and put it in front of her, she kind of dosed -- her head was hanging, she just kind of -- excuse me. Okay. Okay. Her head was hanging and it frightened -- oh, Jesus. It frightened me. 15 I asked her what was wrong. She was sleep. She woke up. I woke her up. So I said, Mama, you want to lay down. So I took her -- she said, yes, and I went and took her and I laid her down. And I called my brother and I told him something wasn't right with her. So he came over that evening and we sat there with her. And she woke up.
- Q. And what day are you talking now?
- A. This was the 12^{th} .
- Q. Okay.
- A. I got her up and she seemed kind of -- she really seemed kind of slow in her actions. I could say something to her and it was -- it got so she wouldn't answer me right away. She would keep saying, huh. I say, Mama, don't you hear me talking to you. She would say, huh. It was really like she didn't quite understand what I was saying, and then finally she would come around and she would respond. So that next morning -

So I keep her at home on the 13th. I didn't let her go to the center. And that day was pretty much like the 12th, but when I knew I could wake her up I was fine. So I sit her up in the chair in front of the t.v. and I turned the remote for her, she sit -- she sit there and kind of watched t.v. but she wasn't really watching t.v. she was looking at the t.v., but she wasn't really -- she wasn't into it like she normally, you know, like she's normally into her programs. So the 13th we stayed at home and I fixed her food. She didn't want to eat that day. I said, well, Mama, you know you got to eat. You've taken all those

It is impossible to reconcile these frightening events with the "return to normal" assumptions of Dr. Thiel.

Tylenols, you're going to be sick. So I finally coached her to kind of eat something. She didn't eat as much as she would normally eat because my mother is a big eater. She was a big eater. So that day went on, I put her to bed and she sleep kind of hard that night....

New Trial Transcript Page 385, Lines 24 - 29, Page 386, Lines 1 - 29, Page 387, Lines 16 - 29, Page 388, Lines 1 - 4. Appellee's Record Excerpt Tab No. 12.

Thus there is ample unrefuted evidence in the record to support and substantiate the Trial Court's decision to reject Dr. Thiel's determination that Mrs. Stewart "returned to her normal activity." In fact the evidence establishes that Dr. Thiel was completely wrong on this point. Far from returning to her normal activity, Mrs. Stewart's functioning level was so diminished that it frightened her daughter and instead of going to the daycare as she normally did she was kept home and began a downward spiral. When she did return to the daycare, she was found on the ground which was not normal and by the 19th she was hospitalized. Three (3) trips to the emergency room was not normal for Mrs. Stewart.

Likewise there is ample evidence in the record to support the Trial Court's decision that the damages which Mrs. Stewart suffered as the result of her brain injury on August 11, 1997, included the charges on the Medical Bill Summary. ¹⁶ Dr. Hayne testified that the charges corresponded to the

¹⁶

The City criticizes Dr. Hayne for his alleged failure to consider previous falls, her 1978 stroke, and her pre-existing neurological status. City Brief at Pages 9, 17 - 18. Contrary to the City's allegations Dr. Hayne did not testify that he did not take her prior history, including falls, the 1978 stroke or pre-existing neurological status, into account. On cross-examination, Dr. Hayne stated that he was not surprised that she had experienced falls prior to August 11, 1997, but that given that she had a relatively steady period following the 1978 stroke, and no evidence in the records that such prior falls contributed to any traumatic brain injury, that "clinically that would indicate that the significant change was due to the fall on the 11th of August, not some prior [fall]." New Trial Transcript at Page 37, Lines 22 - 29. In fact Dr. Hayne offered to go through, with the City's counsel, the mass of records he reviewed if counsel wanted "specific information as to specific dates and findings." New Trial Transcript at Page 40, Lines 15 - 29 and Page 41, Lines 1 - 9. Counsel for the City chose not

reasonable and necessary. New Trial Transcript Page 28 lines 17 - 29. Appellee's Record Excerpt Tab No. 13. The Medical Bill Summary reflects that as of the date of the initial trial on September 25, 2002, Mrs. Stewart had incurred medical expenses of \$416,491.40.

The Trial Court also did not ignore the substantial evidence concerning Mrs. Stewart's "enormous amount of pain, suffering and mental anguish as a result of the City of Jackson's breach of its duty." Prior to hitting her head on August 11, 1997, Mrs. Stewart was an energetic person, a "big eater," who enjoyed travel, a level of mobility and communication, laughing and interacting with her family, reading, watching television and limited cooking. By the time of the original trial she had been reduced to a confused frighten invalid, unable to eat solid food and largely only able to shriek incomprehensibly and wait for death. Dr. Hayne's opinions were based upon facts in the medical records and the trial transcript. Dr. Hayne gave reasonable opinions based upon these facts. Dr. Hayne's testimony and Mrs. Womack's testimony substantiates the Trial Court's determination that this destruction of Mrs. Stewart's quality of life was the direct legal result of the City's breach of duty on August 11, 1997.

The significant and dramatic adverse impact the City's breach of duty had on Mrs. Stewart warrants the amount of damages awarded by the Trial Court. The amount awarded does not even exceed the special damages incurred by Mrs. Stewart. *See Estate of Jones v. Phillips ex rel. Phillips*, 992 So.2d 1131, 1151 (Miss. 2008) (citing *Edwards v. Ellis*, 478 So.2d 282 (Miss. 1985) (upheld verdict forty times the amount of medical expenses)).

to go through the records with Dr. Hayne.

The record does not support the conclusion that the Trial Court's Findings and Order were manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous.¹⁷ The City basically argues that the Trial Court committed error by believing that Mrs. Womack's description of Mrs. Stewart's level of functioning after striking her head on August 11, 1997, was more accurate than Dr. Thiel's second hand information alleged gleaned from the medical records, see *supra* notes 7, 12 and 13, and in finding that the testimony of Dr. Hayne, a forensic pathologist, to be credible over the testimony of Dr. Thiel. These are the identical arguments which were rejected by this Court in *University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Pounders*, 970 So.2d 141, 146 (Miss. 2007).

In *Pounders*, UMMC's attack on the testimony of Pounder's expert was based upon the contrary opinion of UMMC's own expert. The Court recognized that cases often come down to a disagreement among experts ¹⁸ and expressly held that the Trial Court was allowed to determine what testimony he considered persuasive and what testimony he considered unpersuasive. Id. The Court in *Pounders* noted that "[b]ecause the trial judge is the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses and may place whatever weight he feels appropriate on testimony, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by relying on [one expert's] testimony." Id. In the present case the Trial Court had the exact same latitude as he weighed the conflicting opinion testimony of experts whose testimony he personally witnessed at trial.

In Pounders, UMMC argued that Pounders' expert could not offer opinion testimony on

[&]quot;The word 'manifest,' as defined in this context, means 'unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable.' "Singley v. Singley, 846 So.2d 1004, 1007 (Miss.2002) (quoting Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d 1117, 1122 (Miss.1995)).

[&]quot;Because there was conflicting [expert] testimony and evidence regarding the cause of Pounders's pneumonia, the trial judge's findings of fact will not be overruled, because they were not clearly erroneous." *Pounders*, 970 So.2d 141, 147 - 148.

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